THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

George C. James, Jr., Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213309
Common Pleas Case No. 2010-CP-28-1197

U.S. Bank National Association Successor trustee to LaSalle Bank National Association, as trustee under the Pooling and Servicing Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2002, among Asset Backed Funding Corporation, Litton Loan Servicing LP and LaSalle Bank National Association, ABFC Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2002-SB-1,.....Respondent,

v.

Kelley Burr; FIA Card Services, N.A.; Discovery Bank, Issuer of the Discover Card; Unifund CCR Partners; Defendants,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the circuit court err in dismissing Appellant's counterclaims and striking her affirmative defenses for failure to prosecute where Respondent's motion to dismiss and strike was not based on any set of facts that amount to a failure to prosecute?

- II. Did the circuit court err in dismissing Appellant's counterclaims and striking her affirmative defenses for failure to prosecute where Respondent's motion to dismiss and strike was not supported by an affidavit or other cognizable evidence?

- III. Did the circuit court err in dismissing Appellant's counterclaims for mootness where the Respondent did not show that a judgment on the merits of those claims would have no practical effect upon the controversy between the parties?

- IV. Did the circuit court err in dismissing Appellant's counterclaims and striking her affirmative defenses on the basis of Rules 12(c) and 12(f), SCRCR, where the Respondent advanced no argument that a ruling in its favor was proper under the standards applicable to those rules and neither rule provided for such a ruling here?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent, U.S. Bank National Association as successor trustee to LaSalle Bank National Association, as Trustee under the Pooling and Servicing Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2002, among Asset Backed Funding Corporation, Litton Loan Servicing LP and LaSalle Bank National Association, ABFC Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2002-SB1 (hereinafter “U.S. Bank”), sued the Appellant, Kelley Burr (hereinafter “Burr”), filing a summons and complaint seeking foreclosure of a mortgage on November 1, 2010. (R. pp. ____; Summons and Complaint.) Burr answered and counterclaimed through her then-counsel, David P. Reuwer, Esquire. (R. pp. ____; Answer and Counterclaims.) Burr’s defenses and counterclaims centered on common factual allegations that “Burr and her husband provided [U.S. Bank] and/or its successor trustee with detailed information and documentation upon request of [U.S. Bank,]” that U.S. Bank’s authorized agents and employees “stated and represented to [Burr] that she would be taken care of not losing her residential home so long as she participated in the Home Affordable Modification Program [(hereinafter ‘HAMP’),]” that Burr “did cooperate and agree to participate in [HAMP,]” and that U.S. Bank “did not conduct a fair reasonable, comprehensive analysis nor reconsideration of her home mortgage payment amount problem, and that the Plaintiff never intended to actually do so.” (R. pp. ____; Answer and Counterclaims pp. 2-3.) Burr pled defenses and counterclaims labeled as “unclean hands,” “breach of contract,” “fraud and misrepresentation in the inducement,” “unfair trade practices,” “in pari delicto,” and “residential home.” (R. pp. ____; Answer and Counterclaims pp. 3-6.) Burr alleged U.S. Bank “breached the terms of

the contract [evidenced by the note and mortgage] and its duty to service the agreement in good faith” and that U.S. Bank “stated and represented over time and telephone calls and correspondence that it would reconsider and help [Burr] into an affordable loan modification, such that she would not lose her residential home.” (R. pp. ____; Answer and Counterclaims pp. 4, 5.) U.S. Bank pled numerous defenses to Burr’s counterclaims. (R. pp. ____; Plaintiff’s Answer to Defendant Burr’s Counterclaims.) Those defenses did not include mootness. (R. pp. ____; Plaintiff’s Answer to Defendant Burr’s Counterclaims.)

On May 2, 2011, Chief Justice Jean H. Toal of the Supreme Court of South Carolina issued In re: Mortgage Foreclosure Actions, 396 S.C. 209, 210, 720 S.E.2d 908 (2011) (South Carolina Supreme Court Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01), which sets out a framework for notifying mortgagor defendants in actions seeking mortgage foreclosure of owner-occupied dwellings of those defendants’ right to foreclosure intervention, as well as a process for the conclusion of foreclosure intervention efforts, generally in one of three ways: 1) successful settlement of the claim for foreclosure through foreclosure intervention, 2) good-faith attempts to settle the foreclosure claim that do not succeed in resolving the foreclosure, despite the participation of both mortgagor and mortgagee in the foreclosure intervention process, and 3) failure of the mortgagor defendant to participate in the foreclosure intervention process, either through failure to respond to the notice of right to foreclosure intervention at all or through completion of the foreclosure intervention process in a way that does not result in resolution of the foreclosure because of the mortgagor’s failure to provide necessary information. Id. at 211-14. U.S. Bank

served Burr's then-counsel with a notice of right to foreclosure intervention on July 25, 2011. (R. pp. ____; Notice of Right to Foreclosure Intervention and certificate of service thereof.) U.S. Bank's counsel and Burr's attorney at that time communicated about the notice, and U.S. Bank re-sent the notice on August 9, 2011. (R. pp. ____; Certification of Mortgagor Noncompliance p. 1.) On October 26, 2011, U.S. Bank's counsel served a certification that Burr had "failed, refused, or voluntarily elected not to participate in any foreclosure intervention process[.]" stating that despite U.S. Bank extending the deadline for Burr to submit documents and records for evaluation in the foreclosure intervention process, "[n]o documents or records were ever received by [U.S. Bank's] counsel." (R. pp. ____; Certification of Mortgagor Noncompliance pp. 1-2 & certificate of service of same.)

On April 17, 2012, U.S. Bank served the motion that is subject of this appeal, stating that Burr "has failed to prosecute and even has defeated her own counterclaims by not responding to [U.S. Bank's] efforts to offer her a loan modification proposal, in addition to not providing information to allow consideration of Burr for a modification. Therefore, pursuant to Rule 12(c), 12(f), and 41(b), S.C. Rules of Civil Procedure, U.S. Bank hereby moves to dismiss Burr's counterclaims and to strike her defenses." (R. pp. ____; Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims and to Strike Defenses.) The motion asserted that Burr's defenses and counterclaims against U.S. Bank are "all based primarily on an alleged failure to 'conduct a fair, reasonable, comprehensive analysis' and 'reconsideration of her home mortgage amount problem[.]'" contended that Burr failed to prosecute her claims by failing to engage in the foreclosure intervention process, and contended that Burr's claims were moot

because U.S. Bank had offered Burr a modification proposal on January 10, 2012, to which offer she never responded. (R. pp. ____; Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims and to Strike Defenses pp. 1, 4-5.) Attached to the motion were the certification of mortgagor noncompliance that U.S. Bank had already filed and printouts of email messages between U.S. Bank's attorney, that lawyer's paralegal, and Burr's then-counsel. (R. pp. ____; Exhibits to Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims and to Strike Defenses.) No testimony, by affidavit or otherwise, was served with or ever offered in support of the motion. (R. pp. ____; Exhibits to Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims and to Strike Defenses; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider p. 2; Transcript p. 14 ln. 11-15, p. 16 ln. 23-24, p. 19 ln. 4-5.)

A hearing on U.S. Bank's motion was set for Thursday, September 13, 2012. (R. pp. ____; Order filed Oct. 1, 2012, p. 1; Transcript p. 1 (cover page).) On the evening of September 10, 2012, Burr hired new counsel, the undersigned, who took over representation from Burr's previous attorney and filed a notice of appearance on the day of the motion hearing. (R. pp. ____; Transcript p. 4 ln. 4-12, p. 13 ln. 4-6; Notice of Appearance.)

U.S. Bank's counsel focused argument at the hearing on its contention that Burr had failed to prosecute her counterclaims by failing to respond to overtures to engage in foreclosure intervention. (R. pp. ____; Transcript p. 5 ln. 10 – p. 12 ln. 25, p. 18 ln. 9 – p. 19 ln. 3, p. 19 ln. 22 – p. 20 ln. 4.) U.S. Bank's counsel's only argument with regard to Rule 12(c), SCRCP, was that Burr's counterclaims were moot because U.S. Bank offered her a modification. (R. pp. ____; Transcript p. 10 ln.

1-5, p. 12 ln. 10-16.) U.S. Bank's counsel did not advance an argument at the hearing concerning Rule 12(f), SCRCF. (R. pp. ____; Transcript pp. 1-21.)

In response to U.S. Bank's argument, Burr's new counsel argued at the hearing that Burr's previous attorney's conduct in failing to "pay the attention to settlement negotiations that maybe ought to have been paid" did not amount to a failure to prosecute. (R. pp. ____; Transcript p. 13 ln. 6-11, 19-25, p. 14 ln. 1-9.) Burr's new counsel also argued that there was no factual material in the record tending to establish mootness of the counterclaims and that Burr's claim that U.S. Bank promised Burr a modification and then reneged on that promise before the lawsuit was commenced was not moot and would not be subject to a motion for judgment on the pleadings. (R. pp. ____; Answer and Counterclaims pp. 2-3; Transcript p. 16 ln. 21 – p. 17 ln. 7.) Burr's counsel made an oral motion to amend the answer and counterclaim, stating, "I hadn't really been in this case long enough to find out exactly what it is that I want to add, but I know I want it to read differently from the way it reads now." (R. pp. ____; Transcript p. 17 ln. 8-16.)

The court announced at the hearing that it was "going to grant the motion to strike the counterclaims" and stated that, to make a motion to amend, Burr would need to make a written motion with a proposed amended pleading attached. (R. pp. ____; Transcript p. 20 ln. 15-25.) Upon inquiry from Burr's counsel, the court noted that its ruling was "[n]ot prejudicial to your right to make a motion [to amend], but that doesn't mean it's going to be amended, and whoever hears that motion can perhaps look at my Order and determine whether or not your proposed amendments

fall outside – or fall inside or outside what I’ve dismissed.” (R. pp. ____; Transcript p. 21 ln. 1-8.)

In an order filed October 1, 2012, the court granted U.S. Bank’s motion, ruling that “[b]ased on the arguments presented by counsel, the documents and evidence presented, and Rules 41(b) and Rules 12(c) and 12(f) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff’s Motion for to Dismiss Defendant Burr’s Counterclaims and to Strike Affirmative Defenses is hereby GRANTED.” (R. pp. ____; Order pp. 1, 4.) The court found that Burr engaged in a failure to prosecute and that the four factors relevant to whether to grant a dismissal for failure to prosecute in McComas v. Ross, 368 S.C. 59, 626 S.E.2d 902 (Ct. App. 2006), were met in this case. (R. pp. ____; Order pp. 2-3.) The court also ruled that “Burr’s claims are moot because they are based on an alleged scenario of her not being offered a loan modification” since U.S. Bank “offered Burr a modification proposal on January 10, 2012, and no evidence shows that Burr responded to this offer until April.” (R. pp. ____; Order pp. 3-4.)

Burr made a timely motion to reconsider in which she noted the arguments her counsel made at the hearing and also pointed out that U.S. Bank “did not advance any arguments concerning [the standards applicable to motions under Rules 12(c) and 12(f)], and the Court’s order does not contain any analysis of whether these standards were met[,]” with Burr stating that “Rules 12(c) and 12(f), SCRCPP, do not provide an appropriate basis for the Court’s decision.” (R. pp. ____; Motion to Reconsider; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider.) The court denied this motion,

without a hearing, in a one-sentence order filed October 16, 2012. (R. pp. ____; Order on Motion to Reconsider.) This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Burr did not engage in any behavior that could reasonably be construed as a failure to prosecute. She apparently failed to provide U.S. Bank with the documents that it stated it needed to evaluate her for a loan modification, but that was, at most, a failure to engage in settlement negotiations. (R. pp. ____; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider p. 2; Transcript p. 13 ln. 6-11.) That is not a failure to prosecute. (R. pp. ____; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider pp. 1-2; Transcript p. 13 ln. 10-11, p. 13 ln. 19 – p. 14 ln. 9, p. 15 ln. 15-21.) U.S. Bank noted no instance of Burr not appearing at a roster meeting or other court event and no instance of Burr failing to participate in discovery. (R. pp. ____; Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims and to Strike Defenses; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider p. 2; Transcript.) Also, the remedy under the operative administrative order for a mortgagor defendant's failure to participate in foreclosure intervention negotiation is not the dismissal of counterclaims or the striking of defenses. (R. pp. ____; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider p. 2; Transcript p. 15 ln. 15-21.)

What happened here is that Burr's previous attorney failed to do a good job (or much of a job at all) in participating in settlement negotiations with U.S. Bank. (R. pp. ____; Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims and to Strike Defenses; Certification of Mortgagor Noncompliance; Transcript p. 5 ln. 25 – p. 11 ln. 5, p. 13 ln. 6-9.) Burr fired that lawyer and hired another one. (R. pp. ____; Transcript p. 4 ln. 4-12, p. 13

In. 4-6; Notice of Appearance.) In the meantime, U.S. Bank had served and filed a certification of Burr's failure to participate in the foreclosure intervention process, which allowed the foreclosure action to proceed. (R. pp. ____; Certification of Mortgagor Noncompliance); see In re: Mortgage Foreclosure Actions, 396 S.C. at 212.

U.S. Bank never established that the court could afford Burr no practical relief as to the controversy subject of her counterclaims and defenses. (R. pp. ____; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider p. 3; Transcript p. 16 ln. 21 – p. 17 ln. 7.) U.S. Bank never put the documents showing the terms of the modification it proposed to Burr in the record. Nothing before the court showed that any modification U.S. Bank offered complied with applicable HAMP directives or other standards, nor was there anything before the court tending to show whether the terms of the proposed modification were the same as, better than, or worse for Burr than what she was promised. (R. pp. ____; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider p. 3.) For example, U.S. Bank never put anything into the record showing whether its proposed modification contemplated an increase in the amount of principal to recast fees and costs related to the foreclosure action as part of the loan's modified principal. Burr pled that U.S. Bank had promised her a modification and then reneged on that promise, which could not be made moot simply by U.S. Bank later offering Burr a modification. (R. pp. ____; Answer and Counterclaims pp. 2-3; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider p. 3; Transcript p. 16 ln. 21 – p. 17 ln. 7.) Burr did not solely seek a modification as the relief to be granted on her claims; she also sought an award of damages. (R. pp. ____; Answer and

Counterclaims pp. 4, 5-6, 7; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider p. 3.) U.S. Bank adduced no evidence at all to the effect that the court could afford Burr no practical relief as to the existing controversy between the parties. (R. pp. ____; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider p. 3.)

U.S. Bank never even argued, much less established, that Burr's answer and counterclaim failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action or that in some other way *the pleadings* demonstrated that Burr was not entitled to prevail on her counterclaims. (R. pp. ____; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider pp. 3-4.) Similarly, U.S. Bank never established or even argued that Burr's answer and counterclaim pled a legally insufficient defense or pled redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter. (R. pp. ____; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider pp. 3-4.) The court never ruled that either of those things were true; in fact, the court's ruling is expressly based on U.S. Bank's contentions as to facts that do not appear from the pleadings and were not presented through any affidavit or other testimony. (R. pp. ____; Order; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider pp. 3-4.)

The circuit court simply decided that it was proper to dismiss Burr's counterclaims and strike her defenses because she failed to participate in foreclosure intervention, even though the operative Supreme Court administrative order provides that what is to happen in such circumstances is just for the foreclosure action to proceed. In re: Mortgage Foreclosure Actions, 396 S.C. at 212.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute pursuant to Rule 41(b), SCRPC, an appellate court may reverse the trial court’s decision upon an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions.” In re: Care and Treatment of Miller, 393 S.C. 248, 256, 713 S.E.2d 253, 257 (2011).

Rule 12(c), SCRPC, provides for a judgment on the pleadings in a proper case. The standard of whether such a motion should be granted is the same as for a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, and the appellate court applies the same standard to the review of an order granting such a motion. See Russell v. City of Columbia, 305 S.C. 86, 406 S.E.2d 338 (1991); Falk v. Sadler, 341 S.C. 281, 533 S.E.2d 350 (Ct. App. 2000); Fireman’s Ins. Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 302 S.C. 234, 394 S.E.2d 855 (Ct. App. 1990).

Rule 12(f), SCRPC, provides that the Court “may order stricken from any pleading any insufficient defense or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent or scandalous matter.” A motion to strike that challenges a theory of recovery pled by the non-movant is in the nature of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. McCormick v. England, 328 S.C. 627, 494 S.E.2d 431 (Ct. App. 1997).

“A motion to dismiss a counterclaim must be based solely on the allegations set forth in the counterclaim. See Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC; Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C. 519, 527, 511 S.E.2d 69, 73 (1999). ‘A Rule 12(b)(6) motion may not be sustained if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would

entitle the [complainant] to any relief on any theory of the case.’ Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601, 602-3 (1995). The question is whether in the light most favorable to the complainant, and with every doubt resolved on his behalf, the counterclaim states any valid claim for relief. Toussaint v. Ham, 292 S.C. 415, 416, 357 S.E.2d 8, 9 (1987). The counterclaim should not be dismissed merely because the trial court doubts the complainant will prevail in the action. Id.” Charleston County Sch. Dist v. Laidlaw Transit. Inc., 348 S.C. 420, 559 S.E.2d 362 (Ct. App. 2001) (citations in original). In deciding a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the trial court may not consider matters outside the allegations of the pleadings. Falk, 341 S.C. at 281; Firemen’s Ins. Co., 302 S.C. at 234.

ARGUMENT

I. Since Burr did not do anything that amounted to a failure to prosecute, the circuit court erred in dismissing her counterclaims and striking her affirmative defenses for an ostensible failure to prosecute.

U.S. Bank’s motion and the circuit court’s decision were based on conduct that, while regrettable, did not constitute failure to prosecute. (R. pp. ____; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Reconsider pp. 1-2; Transcript p. 13 ln. 6-11, p. 13 ln. 19 – p. 14 ln. 9, p. 15 ln. 15-21.) Black’s Law Dictionary defines “prosecute” as “[t]o commence and carry out a legal action[.]” The leading recent South Carolina reported case analyzing a dismissal for failure to prosecute, McComas v. Ross, dealt with a situation in which the plaintiff in that case did not show up on time at the courtroom for the trial. 368 S.C. at 60-61. That is the sort of conduct that would trigger an analysis of whether a failure to prosecute has occurred, and then an analysis of whether that failure to prosecute warrants dismissal. Cf. id. at 60-64.

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