THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

George C. James, Jr., Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213309  
Case No. 2010-CP-28-1197

U.S. Bank National Association Successor trustee to  
LaSalle Bank National Association, as trustee under  
the Pooling and Servicing Agreement, dated as of  
April 1, 2002, among Asset Backed Funding  
Corporation, Litton Loan Servicing LP and LaSalle  
Bank National Association, ABFC Asset Backed  
Certificates, Series 2002-SB-1;.....Respondent,

v.

Kelley Burr; FIA Card Services, N.A.; Discovery  
Bank, Issuer of the Discover Card; Unifund CCR  
Partners;.....Defendants,

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

In the case of Georganne Apparel, Inc. v. Todd, 303 S.C. 87, 399 S.E.2d 16 (Ct. App. 1990), the court upheld a dismissal for failure to prosecute and found prejudice to the defendant where the action had been filed two and one-half years prior and the defendants had incurred sixty-five thousand dollars in legal fees to various firms. Id. at 90, 399 S.E.2d at 18, 18 n.\*. Here the circuit court correctly found that U.S. Bank has suffered prejudice by this delay, as it expended time and expense in attempts to respond to Appellant's demands for modification, and

in attempts to follow up with her regarding modification. (R. p. 2.) This time and expense included time seeking documentation from Appellant and her counsel in order to comply with the 2011 Administrative Order, In re Mortgage Foreclosure Actions, 396 S.C. 209, 720 S.E.2d 908 (2011). (R. p. 2.) Additionally, U.S. Bank suffered prejudice in the delay in proceeding with its foreclosure claim as Appellant's claims are based on the availability of a loan modification, but she has failed to participate and respond to this process, which has been more than exhausted. (R. pp. 2, 35-36.) Finally, the Court noted that the subject property is physically deteriorating. (R. p. 66.) These circumstances are comparable to that of Georganne Apparel, and are sufficient for a conclusion that U.S. Bank has suffered prejudice by the delay.

As to the third factor, the circuit court correctly found that Appellant's history of proceeding in a dilatory fashion was shown by the events listed in the Certification of Mortgagor Noncompliance and in the motion that is the subject of this appeal. (R. p. 2.) Additional support for this finding is derived from Appellant's own Answer, which admits that some documents required by U.S. Bank were not submitted (R. p. 17) and from Appellant's failure to conduct discovery on her counterclaims. (R. p. 66.) As twenty-two months had passed since the institution of this action at the time the motion was heard, the court could conclude that this was the result of conscious and deliberate failure by Appellant to proceed on her counterclaims, which were not stayed by the 2011 Administrative Order. (See R. p. 70 ln. 22 – p. 71 ln. 20.) (noting that the foreclosure could not proceed on the merits prior to the Certification of Noncompliance, but that this did not stay the counterclaims). The Certification of Mortgagor Noncompliance was filed with the court, becoming part of the record. (R. pp. 84-85.) Moreover, Appellant's answer, also a part of the record, admits to failing to provide documentation. (R. p. 17.)

Finally, in regard to the fourth factor requiring the trial court's consideration of alternative sanctions, it is stated explicitly in the Oct. 1 Order that the court considered "another court order directing compliance" with the requirements of the loan modification process. The court concluded, however, that such an order "would provide no incentive for Burr to act." (R. p. 2.) This consideration was sufficient to satisfy the requirement that the court consider sanctions other than dismissal. McComas requires only that the trial court consider alternative sanctions, not that it must attempt them before proceeding with dismissal.

Additionally, Appellant confuses the court's inherent power to dismiss claims for failure to prosecute and the procedural process available under Rule 41(b). Crestwood Golf Club, Inc. v. Potter, 328 S.C. 201, 211, 493 S.E.2d 826, 832 (1997). The court's authority to order dismissals *sua sponte* does not require analysis under the four McComas factors. See Id. Therefore, it was not an error of law to conclude that the four McComas factors were satisfied, and the grant of dismissal under Rule 41(b) was not an abuse of discretion.

**II. The circuit court did not err in dismissing Appellant's counterclaims and striking her affirmative defenses without the submission of affidavits or other admissible evidence.**

The circuit court's findings are not findings of fact, and, as U.S. Bank's motion was not considered as a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56, SCRPC, it was not required to be supported by affidavits or other evidence. (R. p. 2.) Rule 12(c), SCRPC, states that "[i]f, on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, matters outside the pleadings are presented ... the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment...." Id. However, this rule also contemplates that judgment on the pleadings may be had without reference to external matters. See Id.; Lydia v. Horton, 343 S.C. 376, 381, 540 S.E.2d 102, 105 (Ct. App. 2000), rev'd on other grounds, 355 S.C. 36, 583 S.E.2d 750 (2003) (citing Firemen's Ins. Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 302 S.C. 234,

394 S.E.2d 855 (Ct. App. 1990) (“On review of the motion, the court may not consider matters outside the pleadings.”). Rule 12(f), SCRCF, contains no reference to matters outside the pleadings. Id. As the question in ruling on a motion under Rule 12(f) is whether the defense should be allowed to be plead, not whether there are facts supporting what has been pleaded, consideration of matters outside the pleadings is unnecessary. See Alladin Plastics, Inc. v. Wintenna, Inc., 301 S.C. 90, 93, 390 S.E.2d 370, 372 (Ct. App. 1990).

Likewise, Rule 41(b) does not require the submission of supporting affidavits. Rule 41(b), SCRCF. This rule does provide for the court to make findings of fact in actions where the court acts as a trier of fact and the defendant moves for dismissal under this rule after plaintiff has presented his evidence. Id. However, this procedure is the equivalent of a motion for a directed verdict in a non-jury case. See Fickling v. City of Charleston, 372 S.C. 597, 599 n.1, 643 S.E.2d 110, 112 n.1 (Ct. App. 2007) (noting that directed verdicts are available only in jury trials, but that dismissal may be had under Rule 41(b), SCRCF in actions without a jury). It is not the only path for dismissal under this rule. See Therens, 291 S.C. at 452, 354 S.E.2d at 55 (dismissing for failure to comply with United States District Court order); Small v. Mungo, 254 S.C. 438, 175 S.E.2d 802 (1970) (dismissing for failure to appear for trial); Brandt v. Gooding, 368 S.C. 618, 627, 630 S.E.2d 259, 264 (2006) (affirming dismissal as sanction for contempt and perpetrating a fraud on the court). These types of dismissals do not require the trial court to make findings of fact.

A copy of a document which is an exhibit to a pleading is part of the pleading for all purposes if a copy is attached to such a pleading. Rule 10(c), SCRCF; Brazell v. Windsor, 384 S.C. 512, 516, 682 S.E.2d 824, 826 (2009). Brazell held that a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, was not converted into a motion for summary judgment by considering a document

attached to and incorporated by reference into the complaint. Brazell, 384 S.C. at 516, 682 S.E.2d at 826.

The circuit court properly considered the Certification of Mortgagor Noncompliance in considering U.S. Bank's motion, as this is a pleading that was part of the record before the court and attached as an exhibit to the motion. It was, like the document in Brazell, part of the pleadings since it was required to be filed with the court. While Appellant is correct that factual statements of counsel ordinarily may not be considered by the court in determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists, Higgins v. Medical Univ., 326 S.C. 592, 599, 486 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 1997), when deciding a motion for judgment on the pleadings or a motion to strike, the court is not looking at material facts. See Rule 12(c), (f), SCRPC; Alladin Plastics, Inc. v. Wintenna, Inc., 301 S.C. 90, 93, 390 S.E.2d 370, 372 (Ct. App. 1990) (stating that motions to strike do not deal with factual support of what has been pleaded); Lydia, 343 S.C. at 380, 540 S.E.2d at 105. As the Certification of Mortgagor Noncompliance and Plaintiff's Answer and Counterclaims were the documents considered by the circuit court in making its decision, it was not an abuse of discretion to grant U.S. Bank's motion without any supporting affidavits or the submission of other evidence.

### **III. The circuit court did not err in dismissing Appellant's counterclaims for mootness.**

The circuit court ruled that Appellant's claims were moot as an additional basis for dismissal. (R. p. 2.) Justiciability, whether the litigation presents an active case or controversy, is a threshold inquiry for any court. Holden v. Cribb, 349 S.C. 132, 137, 561 S.E.2d 634, 637 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting Lennon v. S.C. Coastal Council, 330 S.C. 414, 415, 498 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996)). The concept of justiciability encompasses ripeness, mootness, and standing. Id. (citing Jackson v. State, 331 S.C. 486, 490 n.2, 489 S.E.2d 915, 917 n.2 (1997)). "A case

becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical effect upon [an] existing controversy.” Id. at 137–38, 561 S.E.2d at 637 (quoting Seabrook v. City of Folly Beach, 337 S.C. 304, 306, 523 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1999)) (alteration in original). There are three exceptions to the mootness doctrine: (1) if the issue is capable of repetition but evading review; (2) to “decide questions of imperative and manifest urgency to establish a rule of future conduct in matters of important public interest” and (3) “if the trial court’s decision may affect future events or have collateral consequences for the parties.” Id. at 138, 561 S.E.2d at 637–38. (quoting Curtis v. State, 345 S.C. 557, 568, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001)). However, all the cases dealing with exceptions to mootness are in the context of a moot appeal and whether the appellate court can take jurisdiction, not the trial court’s jurisdiction. See Id.; Byrd v. Irmo High Sch., 321 S.C. 426, 430–32, 468 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996); Darden v. S.C. Dep’t of Highways & Pub. Trans., 291 S.C. 270, 353 S.E.2d 279 (1987).

Here, all of Appellant’s counterclaims are premised on U.S. Bank’s failure to offer her a “reconsideration of her payment amounts.” (R. pp.17-18, 21.) U.S. Bank has offered Appellant this opportunity, not only through the foreclosure intervention process mandated by the 2011 Administrative Order, but also prior to the institution of this action through HAMP. (See R. p. 17, p. 66 ln. 23-25, p. 69 ln. 20 – p. 70 ln. 15, p. 84-85.) Any order from the circuit court in Appellant’s favor on her counterclaims would not grant her this modification opportunity. Appellant has already been offered a modification, as conceded by her counsel at the motion hearing. (R. p. 70 ln. 13-15.) Accordingly, any order from the circuit court preserving her counterclaims would have no practical effect. None of the mootness exceptions apply because Appellant’s claim of mootness goes to the justiciability of the initial action, not this appeal, which is also moot for the same reasons. While the failure of a loan servicer to consider a

borrower for foreclosure intervention is capable of repetition, Appellant has not shown how this question usually becomes moot before it can be reviewed by the courts. See Byrd, 321 S.C. at 431–32, 468 S.E.2d at 864. Appellant’s claims do not implicate any imperative or urgent questions, as the stay imposed by the mandatory foreclosure intervention program under the 2011 Administrative Order prevents a plaintiff from proceeding with foreclosure without offering to participate in foreclosure intervention. See In re Mortgage Foreclosure Actions, 396 S.C. at 211–13, 720 S.E.2d at 909. Additionally, the third exception, having collateral consequences for the parties, is not implicated because Appellant has already received exactly what she sought – an offer for loan modification. Therefore, the circuit court did not err in dismissing Appellant’s counterclaims for mootness.

**IV. The circuit court did not err in dismissing Appellant’s counterclaims and striking her affirmative defenses on the basis of Rules 12(c) and 12(f), SCRPC because Appellant’s claims are moot.**

Rule 12(c) states “after the pleadings are closed but within such time as not to delay the trial, any party may move for judgment on the pleadings.” Rule 12(c), SCRPC. A judgment on the pleadings is proper if there is no issue of fact raised by the complaint which, if resolved in favor of the plaintiff, would entitle him to judgment. Lydia v. Horton, 343 S.C. 376, 540 S.E.2d 102, 105 (Ct. App. 2000), rev’d on other grounds, 355 S.C. 36, 586 S.E.2d 750 (2003). Where the pleadings are fatally deficient in substance or fail to state a good cause of action in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant, judgment on the pleadings is proper. Rosenthal v. Unarco Indus., 278 S.C. 420, 422, 297 S.E.2d 638, 640 (1982). Where the pleadings disclose all facts necessary, the Court may exercise its discretion. Id. In ruling on a Rule 12(c) motion, the court does not admit the inferences drawn by the plaintiff from the facts nor does it admit conclusions of law. Firemen’s Ins. Co. of Newark, New Jersey v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 302 S.C. 234, 236, 394

S.E.2d 855, 856 (Ct. App. 1990) (citing Russell v. City of Columbia, 301 S.C. 117, 390 S.E.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1989)). The court may not consider matters outside the pleadings. Id.

Rule 12(f) states “Upon motion pointing out the defects complained of, and made by a party before responding to a pleading or... upon the court’s own initiative, at any time the court may order stricken from any pleading any insufficient defense or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent or scandalous matter.” Rule 12(f), SCRPC. Where defenses are insufficient as a matter of law, the grant of a motion to strike is not error. See Mayes v. Paxton, 313 S.C. 109, 437 S.E.2d 66 (1993) (affirming decision to strike defenses of contributory negligence and assumption of risk where facts were clear and undisputed). The grant of a motion to strike will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion or error of law. Robinson v. Code, 384 S.C. 582, 585, 682 S.E.2d 496, 496 (Ct. App. 2009).

The basis for the circuit court’s dismissal under Rules 12(c) and 12(f) was mootness, discussed above. A lack of a justiciable controversy means that any moot claims are insufficient as a matter of law. See Holden, 349 S.C. 132 at 135, 137–38, 561 S.E.2d at 634, 636–38. U.S. Bank was not required to plead mootness as a defense or argue that the pleadings somehow failed to state a claim for that reason. Additionally, U.S. Bank’s answer asserted failure to state a claim under Rule 12(b)(6) as a defense. (R. p. 25.) Mootness, as a threshold issue, may be raised *sua sponte*. See Eagle Container Co., LLC v. Cnty. of Newberry, 366 S.C. 611, 634, 622 S.E.2d 733, 745 (Ct. App. 2005), rev’d on other grounds, 379 S.C. 564, 666 S.E.2d 892 (2008) (holding ripeness may be raised *sua sponte*); Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. South Carolina Dep’t of Labor, Licensing, & Regulation, 337 S.C. 476, 485, 523 S.E.2d 795, 800 (Ct. App. 1999). Appellant’s counterclaims and defenses are based on the alleged failure to offer her a loan modification. (R. pp. 16-18.) Appellant’s counterclaims sought a modification offer. (R.

p. 21.) A modification would prevent the foreclosure from occurring. A grant of judgment in Appellant's favor would not have given her the modification she sought. Further, Respondent was at the time of the motion hearing working with and has continued to work with Appellant toward a modification, which efforts were unaffected by the trial court's dismissal of the counterclaims. (R. p. 62 ln. 20 – p. 64 ln. 6.) Because U.S. Bank had offered a modification, a reversal of the circuit court's Oct. 1 Order would have no practical effect. As the circuit court properly found that Appellant's claims were moot because U.S. Bank had offered her a modification, and mootness may be raised *sua sponte*, Appellant's counterclaims and defenses were properly dismissed and struck.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, the Order of the circuit court dismissing Appellant's counterclaims and striking her defenses should be affirmed.